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ELVASTON CASTLE
Name: ELVASTON CASTLE
County: Derbyshire
District: South Derbyshire (District Authority)
Parish: Elvaston

label.localisation:  Latitude: 52.891931
Longitude: -1.3848820
National Grid Reference: SK 41482 32897
Map: Download afull scale map (PDF)

label.overview:  Heritage Category: Park and Garden
Grade: I1*
List Entry Number: 1000404
Datefirst listed: 04-Aug-1984

Details

Formal gardens and pleasure grounds laid out 1830-51 by William Barron for the fourth Earl of Harrington. The gardens were
created using many mature trees which were transplanted by methods pioneered by Barron's mentor at the Edinburgh Botanic
Gardens, William McNab, and developed by Barron.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

The estate was owned by Walter Blount, created Lord Mountjoy in 1465, during the C15 and it passed to Sir Michael Stanhope
in the C16. It remained in the Stanhope family who were created earls of Harrington in 1742. The second Earl made Elvaston
his principal seat in the later C18. The fourth Earl has been described as 'a renowned eccentric and dandy' (Glenn Anderson
Associates 1997) and following his marriage to actress Maria Foote in 1831 and the scandalised reaction of polite society, he
withdrew from public life and concentrated on developing the Castle and grounds at Elvaston. The Earl's interest in romantic
medievalism and chivalric themes influenced the layout of the gardens which were closed to the public until his death in 1851
but became well known during the C19 through articles in gardening journals and writers such as E Adveno Brooke.

The Stanhope family continued to live at Elvaston until the eleventh Earl moved to Ireland in 1939. The site was let and
subsequently sold to a development company in 1963. In 1969 it was acquired by Derbyshire County Council and opened as
a Country Park in 1970, in which use it remains (1998).

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Elvaston Castle is situated ¢ 6km south-east of Derby city
centre, immediately north and west of the village of Elvaston in an area of rural and suburban character. The c 80ha site is
on level land within the flood plain of the River Derwent. The boundaries are fenced with the exception of Elvaston Avenue
which runs across open fields.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The principal entrance was London Road Lodge (early C19, listed grade I1) which has
lodges linked by acrenellated wall with acentral gateway. Thisentranceis at the southern end of the site on the A6 from which
adrive, now a path planted (C20) as an avenue of horse chestnuts, runs north to a set of gates called the Golden Gate (listed
grade I1) which are flanked by piers of alabaster. The ornate ironwork gates were purchased by the third Earl of Harrington in
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1819 and are thought to come from Paris (Colston Stone 1992). A path |eads from them northwards to the Castle. This approach
is on the line of an avenue shown on an undated map prepared for the third Earl of Harrington (and therefore made during the
years 1760(79) by G Grey. The avenue was planted or replanted by Barron during the 1830s. Another entrance on the east side
of the site in Elvaston leads to a drive running westwards past the Golden Gate before turning northwards and then eastwards
to the stable yard. A lodge (listed grade 1) is positioned beside the drive at the entrance to the yard. An entrance with alodge
called Drive Lodge lies on the east side of the site on the B5010 and adrive from it leadsto the kitchen garden and paths leading
westwards through the site to the Castle. A drive leads from Home Farm (outside the registered area) on the north-west side
of the site and joins with Bedford Drive (see below) and with paths leading south to the stable yard. The main visitor entrance
created late C20 is ¢ 320m north of Drive Lodge where aturning leads into a car park on the east side of the site.

PRINCIPAL BUILDING Elvaston Castle (listed grade I1*) was built in 1633 and atered during the early C18. A major
remodelling to designs by James Wyaitt (1747-1813) took place c 1817 in castellated Gothick style. Alterations of 1830 to 1840
were by L N Cottingham.

There are two courtyards with buildings ranged around them to the west of the Castle. Immediately to the west an arcaded
shelter of 1970 runs along the north side of the courtyard, with the walls of St Bartholomew's churchyard (listed grade I1) on
the south side. The westernmost courtyard has a coach house and attached ancillary buildings and stables (all listed grade I1)
ranged around the courtyard. Immediately south-west of this there are a number of farm buildings in use as a riding school
and museum (1998), including an early C19 stable block (listed grade I1) and mid C19 farm buildings (listed grade 1) which
areranged around a farmyard.

St Bartholomew's church (listed grade 1) lies in a churchyard ¢ 50m south-west of the Castle. It has C13 origins with later
additions and aterations including an extension to the chancel of 1904 by G F Bodley. The churchyard contains the Harrington
family mausoleum.

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS The gardens consist of formal gardens to the south and south-east of the Castle,
and less formal grounds with woodland and a lake to the north and north-east.

Immediately south of the Castle the Parterre Garden has aformal layout with clipped yew bushes and quartering paths between
geometrical beds lined with clipped box. On each side clipped and topiaried Irish and common yews frame the Garden and
conceal terraced walks which run north/south on the east and west sides of the Garden. The parterre was created in 1970 on
the site of aformal garden called Mon Plaisir. This had a covered walk in the form of an exaggerated quatrefoil formed from
clipped arbor vitae hedges with loopholes to give light and entrances cut through the hedges. A central mound waslaid out with
a star-shaped flower bed and had a single central Araucaria, one of dozens introduced to the garden by Barron. It is shown in
abird's-eye view of ¢ 1856 by E Adveno Brooke, and in less complete form in an aeria photograph of 1954 (both reproduced
in GAA 1997). William Barron (1800(91) based the garden on a C17 design by Daniel Marot, and it was probably laid out to
evoke amedieval garden in keeping with the romantic interests of the fourth Earl.

Steps lead up at the south end of the Garden to an opening formed between yews clipped into the shape of a crown. From this
a path leads westwards to the Alhambra Garden, a grassed rectangle bordered by golden yews and birches overlooked from
the south end by the Moorish Temple (listed grade I1). Adveno Brooke's ¢ 1856 illustration shows that it was laid out with low
clipped hedges and formal flower beds. C19 accounts state that it was enclosed by hedges of Portuguese laurel and yew. The
style is termed as Oriental Scroll style and raised circular beds are described. In the centre of the Garden there was a golden
yew in araised bed surrounded with architectural edgings of stone or tile. The Garden layout was removed in the mid C20.
Immediately east of the Parterre Garden and divided from it by clipped hedges is the Italianate Garden. This occupies a
rectangular grassed area bordered by tall yew hedges with clipped hedges and simple topiary shapes cut into Irish yew bushes
in the southern part of the Garden. The Garden was known as the Garden of the Fairstar and had an ironwork Moorish bower
at the north end overlooking a crescent-shaped bank planted with cedars and yews. Scroll-shaped flower beds lay to the south
of the crescent and topiary yews and junipers occupied the southernmost part of the Garden. This arrangement is shown in
an illustration by Adveno Brooke of ¢ 1856 and on the 1881 OS map, but it fell into disrepair and the bower was removed,
probably in the mid C20.
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The southern part of the garden, south of the formal gardens, islaid out with three parallel avenues cut through evergreen and
coniferoustrees. The central avenue, called VVault Avenue, is on the line of the carriage drive from London Road Lodge and the
Golden Gate entrance. A substantial ha-ha and stonewall (listed grade 11 with the Gate) run on each side of the Gate separating
the pleasure grounds from the park. To the west Church Avenueis aligned with St Bartholomew's church and terminates at the
north end with atopiary feature called the Bird Cottage. The avenue to the east is called School Avenue. This area contains a
wide variety of evergreen trees which represent what survives from an extensive collection arranged in plant groups by Barron.
On the east side stone steps lead down from aterrace in front of the Castle. Topiary yews are positioned at the base of the steps
and lead on to the Elvaston Avenue, much as shown in alate C19 view by F O Morris. A bank and ha-ha conceal the B5010
so that an uninterrupted view can be obtained along the Avenue from the Castle. This areais shown with formal gardens and
an avenue on the Grey map although it was comprehensively replanted by Barron.

On the north side of the Castle grassed lawns are terraced down to the edge of alake. Late C20 concrete steps have been placed
at various points to facilitate descent to the shore of the lake. Some 60m north-east of the Castle the remains of awater feature
with stone foundations are al that survives of a fountain and rockwork grotto shown in C19 views (GAA 1997). A number
of mature cedars on the lakeside are the remains of Barron's planting scheme and some can be identified with individua trees
shown on mid and late C19 prints and photographs (ibid). Paths lead around the lake perimeter to aviewing point ¢ 120m north
of the Castle where arockwork arch on the lake's edge frames views across the water. The north side of the lake iswooded and
some of the trees are probably those planted as mature specimens by Barron. There are extensive areas of rockwork all along
the northern side of the lake, and ¢ 200m north-east of the Castle alarge rockwork structure (listed grade 1) built to represent
aruined castleis flanked by rustic arcading. This cutsinto amound originally surmounted by a spira path and dense planting,
from which views southwards over the lake to the Castle can be obtained. The northern shore of the lake was also set out with
earthworksin the form of fortifications for the ruined castle, and a serpentine path, which continues around the lake and returns
along its southern shore. A boathouse (mid C19, listed grade I1) lies on the water's edge ¢ 200m east of the Castle.

PARK North of the lake The Park is separated from the woodland around the lake by a fence. The area is open grassland
protected by a belt of trees through which a ride called Bedford Drive runs. This was described by J C Loudon as 'having
recently been formed' in 1839 (Boniface 1987). Barron used the planting around The Park as a reserve ground for conifers
where they were brought on before being planted in their final positions.

The Elvaston Avenue, aligned with the east side of the Castle, extends across arable land for adistance of ¢ 1.3km. It ison the
line of an avenue shown on the Grey map. J C Loudon describes 'fine old avenues' in 1839 (ibid), suggesting that some C18
planting survived at that time. It was probably augmented and replanted by Barron, who cleared away all trees and hedgerows
in the line of the Avenue for a distance of ¢ 10km so that uninterrupted views could be obtained along it.

On the south side of the Castle the avenue from London Road Lodge is flanked by woodland and areas of open grassland.
South-west of the Castle there is a cricket ground and open grassland divided from agricultural land by afence.

KITCHEN GARDEN The kitchen garden lies ¢ 400m south-east of the Castle and consists of a sub-rectangular brick-walled
enclosure (wallslisted grade I1) divided into two unequal parts by abrick wall. The areato the west has been planted asaflower
garden in the late C20. The areato the east contains the remains of glasshouses along the inner north wall. A range of ancillary
buildingsis built along the outer northern wall.

Lega

This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of
Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.
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